IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT ₿y **Chief Deputy Clerk**

PAULA JEAN HEARNDON, Petitioner US. KENNETH L. GRAHAM, Respondent.

Case No. 92,665 First District Court of Appeal : 1st District - No. 92-3842 :

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

ł

.

NORM LA COE, Esq. Attorney for Petitioner 4232-B Northwest 6th St. Gainesville FL 32609 Ph. 352 376 9974 fax 375 0040 Fla. Bar Id. # 123772

HORACE N. MOORE, SR., Esq. **Co-counsel for Petitioner** Postal Box 2146 Gainesville FL 32602-2146 Ph. 352 371 2300 Fla. Bar Id. # _____

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Undersigned counsel opened this file 21 years ago, when Paula Hearndon, a high school sophomore, worked part-time in his office. App. 1, p. 3, 8. An incident of bizarre behavior made counsel aware that she had been severely terrorized and sexually abused. App. 1, p. 3. Counsel's secretary, Melba Adams, also knew. Counsel could not prepare a lawsuit because Paula had no memories. R7, App. 1, p. 3.

Twelve years later, she called counsel. Her memories first came back as flashbacks in 1986; petitioner did not know their meaning, and thought she was going insane. In 1988 she recovered enough memory to know her history. Counsel interviewed her more than 20 hours in 1989, substantially revealing her history.

The Florida Department of Law Enforcement took over her case; Gov. Robert Martinez ordered it presented a second time to the grand jury. The second Alachua County Grand Jury found Wilma Graham's death was "probably murder" but criminal limitations had run. App. 2, p. 6-7.

This action was filed in 1991. By then, <u>Lindabury v.</u> <u>Lindabury</u>, 552 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989), Rev. Dism., 560 So.2d 233 (Fla. 199) had been decided. At hearing May 27, 1992, on respondent's motion to dismiss:

"MR. LA COE: She was born March 26, 1960, and her memory began to return in 1986.

"THE COURT: So there's no way she could have fought this lawsuit under the holding of the Lindabury decision.

"MR. [MICHAEL W.] JONES: That's correct, sir." App. 1, p. 8. The trial court dismissed the complaint, citing <u>Lindabury</u>. Mr. Jones is respondent's attorney.

Appeal was taken in 1992 to the District Court of Appeal, First District, which in 1998 certified the question to the Florida Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A civil complaint is required to plead ultimate facts. It is improper to plead more, which violates the spirit of the rules. <u>Balbontin v. Porias</u>, 215 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1968).

However, sexual abuse civil actions in which plaintiffs have simply pleaded ultimate facts have all failed on appeal. On a motion to dismiss for failure to state a cause of action, a plaintiff has no opportunity to plead documents, transcripts or other evidence which reveal the case. Counsel believes <u>some</u> understanding of the evidence is necessary, due to the extraordinary nature of this case.

The murder of Paula's mother was investigated by the Gainesville Police Department in 1975; that file clearly reveals petitioner's contemporary memory loss, and strongly

signals sexual corruption. App. 3 and infra.

Defendant-respondent Kenneth Graham is a former F.B.I. agent and former homicide detective, who in 1975 was top cop at Santa Fe Community College. He taught unarmed combat at the Police Academy, and was trained in methods of inflicting agonizing pain. (R2-3). He married Wilma Graham when Paula was seven years old.

He punished Paula, but left no bruises. When she complained, he denied it, and said she was trying to drive him away in hopes her real father would return. No one believed her. No one listened. With terrifying pain, he trained Paula to absolute, unquestioning obedience. (R2).

On her 9th birthday, he began her sexual ruin. He plundered her for five years, two months. He said if she told, her mother would be killed or go to prison. If she refused to enjoy her corruption (App. 1, p. 6), she was terribly hurt. (R3 et seq). Enjoyment of sex was compulsory. At ten, he called "my little whore." He taught her she was born bad, and it was her destiny to please men. The only power she was permitted in her life was the power of sex, and she was trained to be aggressively hyper-sexual.

The experience of forbidden pleasure caused corrosive guilt and self-hatred. As sexual, powerless, corrupted,

guilty, traitorous children do, she "escaped". At first, her escape was made by "splitting" or "leaving" her body. She was mentally gone; it wasn't her body. It is like owning a car which someone else uses at will; after a time, when he is using the car, you accept it, forget about it and go away in your mind; except, the car is your body. She learned the other coping mechanism of the sexually plundered child: to forget. This is the syndrome of traumatic amnesia, so well known to those who work with abused children, but not recognized by Florida courts. (R5-8, also App. 1, p. 5 et seq.). These syndromes are common coping in the sexually plundered child. See page 42, Bass, Ellen and Davis, Laura, The Courage to Heal A Guide for Women Survivors of Child Sexual Abuse, Harper & Roe, New York 1988. Forgetting is memory repression. It occurs when the only other power permitted the child--sexual pleasure-creates unbearable self-hatred and guilt. In this case, "leaving" means suicide.

The evidence in this case will show that Paula splintered into three personalities: The core Paula, a helpless girl of eight, frozen and mute in terror; the first "shell", which is the hyper-sexual Paula, using the only power she was permitted--sex--to protect the child. This is the girl who, true to respondent's training, worked

as a whore when a junior in high school, and who slept with more than 500 men, mostly adults many years her senior, before her 18th birthday. The second "shell", the pleasant, smart, achieving Paula, without knowledge of the other two. This girl worked in counsel's office.

Paula's condition is called the "Multiple Personality Disorder", discussed scientifically by James A. Monteleone in <u>Recognition of Child Abuse for the Mandated Reporter</u> at page 55 et seq.; 1994 G.W.. Medical Publishing, Inc., St. Louis. App. 4; this book is donated to the court's library.

At ten years old, her morals destroyed, Paula became respondent's eager sexual partner. At 11, her early childhood moral training put her at war with herself. At 12, living with self-hatred, she became alcoholic. At 13, supplied by a school mate, she found oblivion in heavy use of phenobarbital. This helped her split and forget her pain, defendant's relentless demands.

He told her she was born bad, and he'd keep her secret so long as she didn't conceal her badness from him. She believed. She kept secrecy to protect her mother and herself, and for shame.

Two months before her 15th birthday, the burden of self-hatred became overpowering. She tried to kill herself. She failed, but he attempt shocked her mother from her

complacency. Mother took Paula to a rehabilitation center, and learned the problem was a "family" matter. Any mother could figure out what that meant. The marriage moved toward divorce. (R4).

Graham knew Paula's mother had discovered what he had done to Paula. He knew Wilma Graham would never tolerate it. He did what he needed to do to protect himself and terrify Paula into silence. (R4 et seq; App. 1, p. 5). Ken Graham murdered Paula's mother. (R5 et seq; App. 2, page 5-6). After, he told Paula that if she ever talked, he would kill her.

With her history of terror and exploitation, Paula Hearndon's capacity was destroyed to remember her own life.

Gainesville police investigated, and Paula's lack of memory about her mother's murder is well documented. In her transcribed interview April 30, 1975 with detectives (App. 3), she used the phrase "I can't remember" or "I don't remember" 18 different times.

Despite an obvious bloodstain on her knee, drops of blood on her bedroom carpet and blood on the sill of her bedroom window through which she fled (all indications that she had entered the kitchen, knelt by her mother who lay dying, then fled) despite these indications, she did not remember being in the kitchen with her mother as she died.

In 1989, she remembered.

Police knew in 1975 that Paula was amnesiac. They did not know why. In an effort to bolster her memory, police at her suggestion arranged a hypnotic interview of Paula by Dr. George F. Welscher, M.D. This was not successful. App. 3, Paula's police interview of April 30, 1975, page 48.

That interview includes powerful signals of sexual exploitation by Ken Graham of Paula. See the <u>Lindabury</u> section of argument.

Example: At page 33 of her April 30, 1975, interview of Paula Hearndon by Tom Greene (App. 3), Paula refers to her closet as her "refuge." Why did she need a refuge?

Example: Paula less than two hours after her mother's stabbing quoted her mother as saying two days earlier:

"I ought to kill you [referring to Paula], and I ought to kill KEN [referring to KENNETH GRAHAM], and then I ought to kill myself."

Why would a woman say, unless she knew that her daughter and husband were engaged in a sexual affair? App. 3, Entry #58.

Example: In her police interview, App. 3, page 4, Paula refers to her suicide attempt the previous January.

> "I'm sure you know that I took an overdose of phenobarbital because I wanted, I wanted to leave."

Paula was 14. Why would she want to kill herself? Further, note Paula's inability in her interview of

April 30, page 4, to speak the word "loyalty".

These examples together mean Ken Graham was having sex with Paula, who felt so guilty she tried to kill herself. As a result her mother found out, and stated that she ought to kill all three of them. Instead, her mother decided to move out and seek divorce Ken Graham killed her to prevent her from prosecuting him for corrupting Paula.

The terror, trauma and threats done to Paula by respondent were so long-enduring, so overpowering, that when super sex would no longer save her, memory shattered.

The grand jury, returned a no true bill; (R5; App. 2). In 1986, when Paula was 27, buried memories began to surface in "freeze frame" flashbacks and nightmares. She did not know these were memories, and thought she was insane. (R7).

In 1989, she remembered enough to call Gainesville Detective Sgt. Tom Greene, who called in the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. After initial investigation, Gov. Robert Martinez ordered the case completed and presented a second time to the Alachua County Grand Jury. (R8-9, App. 1, p. 3). During 1989 and 1990, enough memories returned that she knew what had been done to her by respondent. (R8-9; App. 1, p. 3).

This lawsuit followed within four years from the time

when sufficient memory returned for Paula to understand what had been done to her.

Increasingly, courts are letting go of the kind of knee-jerk suspicion (as shown in <u>Lindabury</u>) and are accepting the reliability of studies of repressed memory.

As an overview to the most recent professional writings on this subject, this Court is referred to App. 10, Chapter 16, Brown, Scheflin and Hammond, "Repressed Memory and the Law", <u>Memory, Trauma, Treatment, and the Law</u>, 578, W. W. Norton Co., St. Louis, 1998. The chapter contains a substantial summary of judicial thinking on this subject. This book is donated to the Court's library.

POINT I. ARGUMENT

FLORIDA COURTS SHOULD APPLY THE DOCTRINE OF DELAYED DISCOVERY TO TOLL LIMITATIONS, TO PERMIT AN ADULT SURVIVOR OF CHILDHOOD ABUSE OR OTHER TRAUMA TO SHOW:

1, THAT SHE WAS ABUSED OR TRAUMATIZED; AND

2, THAT SHE SUFFERED FROM TRAUMATIC AMNESIA OR OTHER SYNDROME, WHICH

3, WAS CAUSED BY HER ATTACKER AND WHICH WAS PART OF HER INJURY, AND WHICH

4, CAUSED HER TO BE UNABLE TO COMMENCE LEGAL ACTION WITHIN THE LIMITATIONS PERIOD.

This is the court that said: "The means of knowledge is knowledge itself." <u>Scroggin Farms Corp. v. McFadden</u>, 165 F.2d 10, 18 (8th Cir. 1948) quoted in <u>Nardone v. Reynold</u>, 333 So.2d 25, 37 (Fla. 1976). That precept is the heart of this case.

This is a case brought by an adult survivor of childhood physical, emotional, moral and sexual abuse.

It is a judicial maxim that law should not be construed so as to reach an absurd result. For this reason, no Florida decision is precedent for this case, or if precedent is obsolete.

In this case, petitioner never had a cause of action because she never had knowledge. Her case is exactly like that of the sponge left in the patient's stomach, where

limitations is tolled until discovery of the sponge.

To do justice in cases of this kind, justices must understand that threshold questions: Why does the child become amnesiac, repress memories?

Why does the child act promiscuously, or work as a whore?

The limitations proper for this case is that line of cases saying a cause accrues when the injured person has knowledge. <u>Contra</u>, <u>Lindabury</u>, <u>infra</u>.

One of the unstated policies supporting the delayed discovery rule is simply that to permit action after delayed discovery means to put the cost of the injury back on the person who caused the injury--and not on the public.

Thus, in <u>Celotax</u>, <u>infra</u>, this Court put the burden of asbestosis disability back on the manufacturer. It did not allow the maker to plead limitations, and put the burden of care on the public treasury.

SEC. A. THE FULTON COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR V. SULLIVAN 22 FLW S578, Opinion No. 87,110 relied on by the District Court DOES NOT CONTROL THIS CASE

The District Court of Appeal relied on <u>Fulton County</u> in affirming the trial court's dismissal.

Sullivan's counsel misunderstood his case and misled this court, arguing Sec. 95.051, F.S., prohibited the plea of fraudulent concealment. This Court's reasoning turned on that issue.

<u>Fulton County</u>'s Plaintiff claimed fraudulent concealment, which would toll the statute of limitations.

Defendant's counsel <u>should have argued that the</u> <u>doctrine of fraudulent concealment does not apply, because</u> <u>no fraud arises absent a duty to speak or to warn, and a</u> <u>person involved in crime has a legal right to remain silent</u>.

The fraudulent concealment doctrine properly applies only where the civil wrongs is not also a crime. This Court's decision reached the right result.

RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT

Counsel's research reveals one case in which this Court addressed a defendant's right to remain silent, holding that a corporation does not have the right. <u>State v. Wellington</u>

<u>Precious Metals, Inc.</u>, 510 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1987). District courts of appeal developed the doctrine that a defendant may plead the 5th in a civil case, but a plaintiff may not affirmatively seek relief, then plead the 5th to avoid discovery of relevant matters; e.g., <u>Fischer v. E. F. Hutton</u> <u>& Co., Inc.</u>, 463 So.2d 289 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984).

In <u>Fulton County</u>, the criminal did not seek affirmative civil relief, and his rightful silence was not fraud.

SEC. A (1) SEC. 95.051 and SILENCE WHERE THERE IS A DUTY TO SPEAK OR WARN

Neither the majority nor dissent in <u>Fulton County</u> noted that the fraudulent concealment rests on the doctrine that silence is fraudulent where there is a duty to speak. See <u>Davis v. Evans</u>, 132 So.2d 476 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961), a duty was recognized to admit to a correct name, making limitations a jury question. Also <u>North v. Culmer</u>, 103 So.2d 701 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967); the court held limitations was tolled where insurance adjusters concealed the death of a party. See cases cited therein.

Also see cases involving dangerous premises, negligent hiring and retention, and slip-and-fall. These all delay limitations until discovery, and are not barred by Sec. 95.051. Counsels research reveals numerous cases decided by district courts of appeal, none in the last half century by

this Court. Premises, see, e.g., <u>Webb v. Glades Elec.</u> <u>Coop.</u>, 521 So.2d 258 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988) holding that an electric utility had a duty to warn of a hazardous condition where a guy wire was stretched across a recognizable cow path; a cowboy was injured.

In these cases defendants had a duty to speak or warn, making silence wrongful.

Petitioner does not assert fraudulent concealment, because respondent never owed disclosure.

The issue of fraudulent concealment is germane to the larger issue of equitable (judicial) tolling of limitations.

SEC. A (2)

FLORIDA COURTS RECOGNIZE FOUR CIRCUMSTANCES WHEN LIMITATIONS IS TOLLED:

1. CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT OF ACCESS TO THE COURTS 2. BLAMELESS IGNORANCE

3. EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL including FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT

> [Both "delayed discovery" doctrines] and 4. SECTION 95.051

The "delayed discovery" doctrine implicit in right of access, blameless ignorance, and equitable estoppel (including fraudulent concealment) was explained by this Court three years after enactment of 95.051 in <u>Celotex Corp.</u> <u>v. Meehan</u>, 523 So.2d 141, 13 FLW 204 (Fla. 1988):

"[T]he district court reasoned that a cause of action in tort arises in the jurisdiction where

the last act necessary to establish liability occurred, and since the accrual of a cause of action must coincide with the aggrieved party's discovery of the injury, a cause of action in tort arises only when the plaintiff knew or should have known of the existence of the cause of action."

<u>Celotex</u> means petitioner's cause of action in this case arose when she had knowledge of her injury. Here, Paula Hearndon's loss of knowledge was part of her injury.

1. CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT OF ACCESS TO THE COURTS ' No Wrong Without a Remedy '

It is settled judicial <u>constitutional</u> doctrine in Florida that no wrong shall be without a remedy. In (<u>Slavin</u> <u>v. Kay</u>, 108 So.2d 462 (Fla. 1958), this court held in a contract dispute:

> "To hold otherwise would result necessarily in the anomaly of fault without liability and wrong without a remedy, contrary not only to our sense of justice but directly conflicting with the express mandate of the Florida Constitution, Declaration of Rights, Section 4, F.S.A., that 'ever person for any injury done him * * * shall have remedy * * * . " The court in the case of Colbert v. Holland Furnace Co., supra [331 Ill. 78, 164 N.E. 164], concluded to the same effect that "the law is presumed to furnish a remedy for every wrong. The defect was hidden from ordinary observation and was a latent defect of which the owner, who accepted the work, would not be chargeable with knowledge." At 468; emphasis supplied.

Prior Sec. 4, Declaration of Rights carries over to the present Constitution, Article I, Dec. of Rights, Sec. 21: "The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury * * * ."

See <u>Calvera v. Green Springs, Inc.</u>, 220 So.2d 414 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1969), holding liable the builder who performed unsafe work. Also <u>Simmons v. Owens</u>, 363 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978): a latent construction defect was actionable when discovered.

> "To hold otherwise would result in the anomaly of fault with liability and wrong without a remedy, contrary to our sense of justice and directly conflicting with the express mandate of the Florida Constitution, Declaration of Rights, that 'every person for any injury done him . . . shall have remedy. . . .'"

At 144. This case and that <u>sub judice</u> both involve hidden wrongs, one in a house, the other to a child's lack of knowledge of her own life experiences.

Also <u>Baxter's Asphalt & Concrete, Inc. v. Liberty</u> <u>County</u>, 406 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981): an aggrieved party was allowed to sue for damages when the court's order permitting injunction came too late; the wrong was award of a public contract after material deviation from public bid specifications.

Two of these cases were decided after enactment in 1974 of 95.051.

They mean the limitations statute cannot supersede the constitution.

In this case, respondent committed two torts which this

court should recognize as actionable: 1, He destroyed Paula's capacity to know right from wrong by teaching her she was born bad, born to be a whore; even if she had knowledge of her actions, she did not know she was injured. and 2, also by destroying her capacity to remember her own experiences.

2. BLAMELESS IGNORANCE

<u>City of Miami v. Brooks</u>, 70 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1954), involved a patient overdosed with x-rays. Suit was brought within the limitations period after discovery, but not after exposure. This court adopted the doctrine announced by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Urie v. Thompson</u>, 337 U.S. 163, 69 S.Ct. 1018, 1024, 93 L.Ed. 1282, 11 A.L.R.2d 252, an action based on a claim for silicosis. The court held that a disease not yet intrusive on consciousness did not trigger limitations. Quoting the U. S. Supreme Court, the Florida Supreme Court said at 309:

> "We do not think the humane legislative plan intended such consequences to attach to blameless ignorance. Nor do we think those consequences can be reconciled with the traditional purposes of statutes of limitations, which conventionally require the assertion of claims within a specified period of time after notice of the invasion of legal rights...."

In 1955, this Court again addressed the issue; <u>Seaboard</u> <u>Air Line Railroad Co. v. Ford</u>, 92 So.2d 160 (Fla. 1955).

This court applied <u>Brooks</u> to a case of skin disease contracted from chemicals to which plaintiff was exposed at work. The court at 161 said limitations attaches

> "when there has been notice of an invasion of the legal rights of the plaintiff or he has been put on notice of his right to a cause of action. * * * To hold otherwise, under circumstances of this kind, would indeed be a harsh rule and prevent relief to an injured party who was without notice during the statutory period of any negligent act that might cause injury."

On rehearing, the Court concluded that knowledge attached when the disease was apparent, not when diagnosed.

In <u>Creviston v. General Motors</u>, 225 So.2d 331 (1969), this court applied the doctrine to an injury which occurred when a door fell off a refrigerator, even though limitations had run on product warranty. This Court said at 334:

> "[T]he holdings in the cases above discussed appear to crystalize in favor of application of the blameless ignorance doctrine in those instances where the injured plaintiff was unaware or had no reason to know that an invasion of his legal rights has occurred. In reality, such a doctrine is merely a recognition of the fundamental principle that regardless of the underlying nature of a cause of action, the accrual of the same must coincide with the aggrieved party's discovery or duty to discover the act constituting an invasion of legal rights."

Although Sec. 95.051 was adopted in 1974, the blameless ignorance doctrine was extended in 1978 to delayed discovery of an error in a survey; <u>Lund v. Cook</u>, 354 So.2d 940 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); and in 1984 of fraudulent retention of money; Senfeld v. Bank of Nova Scotia Trust Co., 460 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984); and was cited Lindabury dissent.

Also see <u>Flanagan v. Wagner, Nugent, et al.</u>, 594 So.2d 776, 17 FLW D155 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), holding that discovery of defamation, not publication, triggered the period; reversed by this Court, 629 So.2d 113, 18 FLW S595 (1993) on grounds the statutory language made limitations ran from date of publication. This Court's reversal did not reject the doctrine.

Celotex decided in 1988 remains viable doctrine.

Limitations does not begin to run until the last element of a cause of action--knowledge--is in place. In this case, ignorance not only existed, it was directly caused by respondent's traumatic assaults upon Paula.

Fulton County's dissent specifically noted S.A.P. v. State Dept. of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 22 FLW D2095 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), in which a child's delayed discovery of abuse while in H.R.S. foster care was recognized.

Further, to say that Sec. 95.051 reflects the legislature's intention to bar a delayed discovery action for childhood assault is to ignore the plain public policy implicit in the 1992 amendment to 95.11 (7), which attempted to extend protection to assault survivors with knowledge for

whom limitations already had run.

To extend the <u>Fulton County</u> decision to other equitable cases will require reversal of a substantial body of law.

3. EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL

Fraudulent concealment is one form of equitable estoppel, and is adequately discussed in <u>Fulton County</u>.

The inherit doctrine of equitable estoppel is well stated by this Court in <u>Mulkey v. Purdy</u>, 234 So.2d 108 (Fla. 1970), when it said at 109:

> "The commands of a government of laws require that this court confine its acts within the scope of judicial power recognizing the co-equal powers of the other branches of government." * * *

"Our retention of judicial review in cases of 'overriding equitable considerations' is to provide a remedy in a rare case when it is undeniable * * * " [that relief is required].

The dissent at 112 concurred in recognition of the right to equitable relief: "The instant case is not one that requires equity to blindly follow the law. Equity courts do not slavishly follow the letter of the law if extraordinary circumstances or countervailing equities call for relief."

Equitable estoppel to bar limitations has been discussed in many Florida decisions. Counsel will address several decided <u>after</u> the legislature enacted 95.051.

Machules v. Dept. of Administration, 523 So.2d 1132, 13 FLW 239 (Fla. 1988). This Court said:

Majority at 1134:

"The doctrine [of equitable tolling] serves to ameliorate harsh results that sometimes flow from a strict, literalistic construction and application of administrative time limits contained in statutes and rules. * * *

"Generally, the tolling doctrine has been applied when the plaintiff has been misled or lulled into inaction, <u>has in some extraordinary</u> way been prevented from asserting his rights, or has timely asserted his rights mistakenly in the wrong forum. * * * We find the doctrine of equitable tolling application under the facts of this case for two reasons: petitioner was misled or lulled into inaction by his Employer, and his appeal to DOA raised the identical issue raised in the originally timely claim filed in the wrong forum."

Dissent at 1140: "I agree that application of the doctrine of equitable tolling should be permitted in Florida administrative proceedings under the proper circumstances. * * * "

Emphasis supplied; citations omitted.

Cheshire v. Alachua County, 603 So.2d 1334, 17 FLW D1916 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992): county estopped to raise the five-year limitations defense.

Solimando v. International Med. Centers. 544 So.2d 1031, 14 FLW 1126 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989): agency estopped to enforce 90-day notice rule where actual notice was mailed.

Grissom v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., 610 So.2d 1299, 18 FLW D113 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992): limitations ran from time claims were fully litigated, not when defense was refused.

Boyd v. Florida Memorial College, 475 So.2d 990 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985): employer for its conduct was estopped to deny late-filed claim for workmen's compensation.

<u>Troiano v. Troiano</u>, 549 So.2d 1053, 14 FLW 2061 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989): equity estopped the limitations defense when the trial court reformed a deed seven years old.

Stewart v. Dept. of Corrections, 561 So.2d 15, 15 FLW D1274 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990): equity permitted filing a notice of appeal one day late to a public agency.

<u>Glantzis v. State Auto. Mut. Ins. Co.</u>, 573 So.2d 1049, 16 FLW D405 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); party who induced inaction was equitably estopped to plead limitations.

Baptist Hospital of Miami, Inc. v. Carter, 20 FLW D1452 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1995): misrepresentation of estate assets was grounds to estop limitations plea.

It is well-settled in case law subsequent to 1974 that the statute of limitations will not be literally applied if such 1, would deny a person her constitutional access to the court, or 2, where the plaintiff is blamelessly ignorant, or 3, where there are grounds for equitable estoppel.

LEGISLATIVE FAILURE TO AMEND AFTER JUDICIAL DECISIONS

It is a maxim of statutory construction that judicial interpretations, left undisturbed, properly apply original statutory purpose.

The legislature adopted F.S. 95.051 in 1974. In subsequent years, this Court and others repeatedly declared exceptions to the statute on three constitutional or equitable grounds. Yet, the legislature did not amend the statute to abrogate judicial doctrines.

This argument takes on more weight when the legislature actually does amend the statute, but does not disturb the doctrines developed by the courts in equity. In 1992, the legislature amended Chapter 95, by addition of subsection (7) to F.S. 95.11, which itself impliedly amended 95.051. This amendment declared a legislative policy that the courts be open to victims of sexual abuse. This Court in <u>Wiley v.</u> <u>Roof</u>, 641 So.2d 66, 19 FLW S334 (Fla. 1994) struck down the retroactive portions of the statute on grounds the legislature cannot revive a cause of action after limitations has run.

In construing 1974's Sec. 95.051, the Court should attempt to reach a decision in harmony with 1992's 95.11(7).

Neither the subsection (7) amendment nor this court in <u>Wiley</u> encroached on the three recognized equitable grounds which permit suit upon delayed discovery of a cause of action, meaning the limitations period had not commenced.

SUMMARY: <u>Fulton County</u> is a sound result, because no wrong results from exercise of a legal right to

remain silent, because there was never a duty to speak.

This case is different. It involves actual harm to Paula, by destroying her personhood, splintering her personality into three, destroying her capacity to remember, and destroying her capacity to know right from wrong.

This Court recognizes the need for equitable relief in cases of extraordinary circumstances. Supreme Court law recognizes the need to allow constitutional access to the courts when necessary to prevent a wrong otherwise without a remedy. Supreme Court law establishes the doctrines of blameless ignorance and equitable estoppel.

The Florida Legislature has allowed these judicial doctrine to stand undisturbed for 24 years.

The question certified by the District Court of Appeal, First District, should be answered in the negative.

SEC. B. WILEY V. ROOF 641 So.2d 66, 19 FLW S334 (Fla. 1994) relied on by the District Court

DOES NOT CONTROL THIS CASE

This Court in <u>Wiley</u> ruled that the legislature cannot revive a cause of action barred by limitations.

However, this Court also has ruled that a cause of action accrues when all the elements are in place. This includes knowledge or the duty to know that legal rights have been invaded.

The facts in <u>Wiley</u> differ greatly from those <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u>; so does the legal issue.

The facts are given in greater detail in the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, Second District, 622 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993).

Roof sued several in her family 19 years "after the last instance of alleged abuse"; at 1019. Roof did not allege any reason for her failure to bring suit at an earlier time, so as to invoke the doctrines of blameless ignorance, equitable estoppel, or right of access to the courts.

The legal issue was whether she could sue under that portion of Sec. 95.11(7) as amended, which stated:

"Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a plaintiff whose abuse or incest claim is barred

under section 1 of this act has 4 years from the effective date of this act [April 8, 1992] to commence an action for damages."

At 1019. Bracketed words were stricken through in the original text.

This Court said at 67:

"[T]he torts of incest and abuse involve a myriad of social, psychological, and legal variables that often prevent a person, particularly a minor, from immediately reporting these types of offenses. The legislature may appropriately determine and modify the period of time for filing actions in abuse and incest cases. This does not mean, however, that it may revive a cause of action that has already been barred by the expiration of the pre-existing statute of limitations. * * * "

"We find that chapter 92-102, section 2, deprives Wiley of a constitutionally protected property interest and is violative of article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution."

In order to find that <u>Wiley</u> bars the plaintiff at bar, this court must find that every element of her cause of action had accrued prior to four years before she filed her suit; and must find she knew or should have known at 22 what had been done to her. At 22, she had no knowledge.

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