IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, ONER AN LOC 201 Style Office Deproce Active

到 5 1959

PAULA JEAN HEARNDON,)
	:
Appellant,)
	:
VS.)
	:
KENNETH L. GRAHAM,)
	:
Appellee.)

Case No.: 92, 665

First District Court of Appeal Case No.: 92-3842

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

MICHAEL W. JONES, P.A.

Michael W. Jones Fla. Bar No.: 296198 4046 Newberry Road Post Office Box 90099 Gainesville, Florida 32607 (352) 375-2222 (352) 335-7737 - Fax Attorney for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida law does not permit courts to create exceptions to, or tolling periods for, statutes of limitation. Since 1974, this has been solely the prerogative of the Legislature. The delayed discovery exception to the statute of limitations, created to benefit victims of sexual abuse and codified in *Florida Statute Section 95.11(7)*, cannot be retroactively applied. Therefore, this court must answer affirmatively the question certified to it by the First District Court of Appeal.

POINT ON APPEAL

THE DOCTRINE OF "DELAYED DISCOVERY", CODIFIED IN *FLORIDA STATUTE SECTION 95.11(7),* AS A TOLLING EXCEPTION TO THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR VICTIMS OF SEXUAL ABUSE, CANNOT BE RETROACTIVELY APPLIED NOR JUDICIALLY IMPOSED IN THE INSTANT CASE.

Statutes of limitation are properly named because they are creatures of legislative origin. *Chapter 95, Florida Statutes* enumerates the times within which causes of action are either prosecuted or extinguished. The limitations clock begins ticking when the last element of the cause of action occurs. *Section 95.031(1), Florida Statutes (1991).* In cases of alleged sexual abuse and battery occurring before 1992, "The last contemporaneous injury is itself sufficient to complete the cause of action and commence the limitations period." *Lindabury v. Lindabury, 552 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987).* Thus, by any calculation the time frames alleged in the amended complaint prove that the plaintiff's claim is time barred.

But what about exceptions to this mechanistic rule? Are there occasions when the clock will be tolled or abated? The answer, historically and presently, is in the affirmative, but no exception applies to the instant case, mandating an affirmative answer to the certified question and an affirmance of the decisions below. Historically these exceptions were largely judicial in origin, no doubt created by courts' desires to avoid unfair and harsh results. The district court's opinion in this case contains an excellent discussion of the evolution of judicially created tolling exceptions which will not be repeated here.

The Legislature's primacy in matters of limitations periods was made clear in 1974 by the enactment of *Section 95.051(2), Florida Statutes (1975),* which states:

(2) No disability or other reason shall toll the running of any statute of limitations except those specified in this section, *s. 95.091, the Florida Probate Code*, or the *Florida Guardianship Law.*

This court in *The Fulton County Administrator v. Sullivan, 22 FLW S578 (Fla. Sup. Ct., September 25, 1997),* expressly ruled that it was a legislative -- not judicial - function to establish the circumstances under which the limitations periods could be tolled. Judicial expansion of the tolling events enumerated in *Section 95.951,* however fair or sympathetic, is unauthorized and invalid.

Indeed, the Legislature codified the "delayed discovery" exception advocated by the petitioner, in its enactment of *Section 95.11(7)*, *Florida Statutes (1993)*, which tolls the statute of limitations for abuse victims for seven years after they reach majority; for four years after leaving the control of the abuser; or for four years from the date the victim discovered an injury caused by the abuser, whichever is longer. This statute provides no relief, however, for the instant petitioner, because no statutory tolling period existed at relevant times in her case. Her claims were timebarred four years after the last alleged injury, or by 1979 according to the amended complaint. See *Lindabury, supra*.

The benefit of *Section 95.11(7)* is prospective only and cannot be claimed by those whose causes of action were extinguished prior to enactment of this statutory exception. *Wiley v. Roof, 641 So.2d 66 (Fla. 1994)*. That is because, as this court has explained, the respondent has a property right to be free from the prosecution of stale claims, and this right accrued four years from the date of the last alleged injury to the petitioner. His right cannot be yanked from him by judicial creation of a thennonexistent tolling circumstance, or by the retroactive application of a current legislatively created one.

CONCLUSION

The proper result here is neither difficult or unfair. The Legislature made clear in 1974, by passage of *Section 95.051(2)*, that it had the sole authority to designate tolling exceptions to the statutes of limitation. At the time of the events alleged in the amended complaint, there was no tolling exception for alleged victims of sexual abuse, who were governed by the rule expressed in *Lindabury:* suit must be commenced within four years of the last injurious contact. Application of this rule bars the instant petitioner's action. Subsequent creation by the Legislature of the "delayed discovery" exception, codified in *Section 95.11(7)*, cannot by retroactive application resurrect the extinguished claim, for to do so would violate the respondent's vested property right to be free from this suit, a right specifically acknowledged by this court in *Wiley v. Roof, supra.*

The question certified by the First District should be answered in the affirmative, and the final judgment of dismissal affirmed.